S257631

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, | |
|--|---|
| Plaintiff and Respondent, | S |
| V. | |
| HEATHER ROSE BROWN, | |
| Defendant and Appellant. | |

Third Appellate District No. C085998 Shasta County Superior Court No. 15F2440 The Honorable Stephen H. Baker, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID L. POLSKY Attorney at Law CA Bar No. 183235

P.O. Box 118 Ashford, CT 06278 Telephone: (860) 429-5556 Email: polskylaw@gmail.com

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under the Central California Appellate Program independent case system

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence that D.R.'s exposure to drugs caused her death.
- 2. Whether the prosecution presented insufficient evidence that Ms. Brown willfully, deliberately and with premeditation administered "poison" to her daughter for purposes of first degree murder by poison.
- 3. Whether the trial court prejudicially erred by failing to instruct the jury *sua sponte* that first degree murder by poison requires proof that the

defendant willfully, deliberately and with premeditation administered poison to the victim.

STATEMENT REGARDING NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

In the instant case, Ms. Brown consumed methamphetamine and heroin while pregnant and continued using drugs after the birth of her child, D.R. She also fed her newborn breast milk that contained remnants of the drugs she herself had ingested. Five days after D.R.'s birth, the baby died. Ms. Brown was convicted of first degree murder based on the theory that she administered the drugs (i.e., poison) to the child. Ms. Brown advances three challenges to her murder conviction.

First, Ms. Brown claims there was insufficient evidence that drugexposure caused D.R.'s death. Only one expert opined that drugs were the cause of death, and he merely explained that drug exposure was *capable* of killing the child and ruled out other potential causes simply because drugs were found in the baby's system. Ms. Brown contends the expert's opinion as to causation was speculative. The Court of Appeal disagreed.

As the basis for her next two arguments, Ms. Brown contends that first degree poison-murder requires proof that the defendant willfully, deliberately and with premeditation administered poison to another. To be clear, she does not argue that the intent to kill or injure or bring about a particular result is required but only that the defendant must have

purposefully as opposed to negligently or recklessly introduced poison into another's system to elevate the conduct to first degree murder. In her arguments, she contends that the trial court prejudicially erred by failing to so instruct the jury and that there was insufficient evidence of that element. The Court of Appeal held the willful, deliberate and premeditated administration of poison to another is not an element of the offense. This appears to be an issue of first impression in California.

Accordingly, review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and settle these important questions within the meaning of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury found Ms. Brown guilty of first-degree murder by poison (Pen. Code, § 187, subd. (a); count one), child abuse (§ 273a, subd. (a); count two), possession of heroin for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351; count three), and possession of marijuana for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11359, subd. (b); count four). It also found, for purposes of count two, that Ms. Brown inflicted unjustifiable physical pain and injury resulting in a child's death (§ 12022.95). (2CT 317-319; 3CT 686-692; 2RT 1039-1041.)

¹ Hereafter, all statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

The trial court sentenced Ms. Brown to state prison for a determinate term of 3 years in count three plus an indeterminate term of 25 years to life in count one. It also imposed a concurrent term of 180 days in count four and stayed imposition of sentence in count two pursuant to section 654. (3CT 747-750; 2RT 1061, 1068.)

Ms. Brown appealed raising the same issues presented herein. The Court of Appeal rejected them all and affirmed the judgment. Ms. Brown subsequently filed a petition for rehearing, contending, *inter alia*, that the Court of Appeal misconstrued her arguments with respect to the elements of first degree murder by poison. (App. A [Opn., at p. 2].) The court granted her petition, vacated the original opinion, and prepared and issued a new opinion that reached the same conclusion. (App. A [Opn., at p. 2].)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Brown incorporates by reference the statement of facts contained in the Court of Appeal's opinion. (App. A [Opn., at pp. 2-3].) Ms. Brown presents specific facts *post* to the extent relevant to support each claim for relief.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT D.R.'S EXPOSURE TO DRUGS CAUSED HER DEATH

The jury found Ms. Brown guilty of first degree murder in count one. The prosecution's sole theory was that Ms. Brown committed implied malice murder by means of "poison," i.e., by exposing D.R. to illicit drugs. (2RT 992.) Admittedly, morphine (a heroin byproduct) and methamphetamine were found in the child's system. (1RT 658-661.) Moreover, the only evidence of the means of their delivery was their presence in Ms. Brown's breast milk and her admission that she fed her baby breast milk. (1RT 559-560, 589-592; 2CT 383, 396, 400, 425-426, 505.) That is not enough, however.

To establish first degree murder by poison, the prosecution bore the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the drug exposure was the cause of D.R.'s death. To satisfy that burden, the prosecution offered the expert testimony of Dr. Ogan and Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak. Ms. Brown submits their testimony did not permit an inference that the drugs caused the child's death.

A. Standard of Review

It is well settled that the prosecution must prove all elements of the charged offense and all "facts necessary to establish each of those elements" beyond a reasonable doubt. (Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-278 [113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182], internal citations omitted; accord, People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 524.) A reviewing court must conclude the prosecution failed to satisfy its burden if, viewing the record in the light most favorable to the judgment, a rational trier of fact could not have found all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319 [99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560]; *People v. Marshall* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1, 34.) Importantly, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict is not synonymous with focusing on isolated pieces of evidence favorable to the prosecution. (People v. Dominguez (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1141, 1153; People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576-577.) Instead, the reviewing court must view the whole record before the jury. (Dominguez, at p. 1153; *Johnson*, at pp. 576-577.)

B. Causation and Murder

Section 189 elevates any murder "perpetrated by means of . . . poison" to "murder of the first degree." To be liable for murder, a defendant "must proximately cause an unlawful death." (*People v. Concha* (2009) 47

Cal.4th 653, 663.) Thus, under a murder by poison theory, the prosecution bears the burden of proving that poison was the proximate cause of the victim's death. (See *People v. Catlin* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 140 [sufficient evidence that "defendant perpetrated an unlawful killing with malice aforethought, and that he did so by means of poison"]; see also *Catlin*, at p. 146 [that the cause of the victim's death was poisoning rather than a natural event was a material issue in case alleging first degree murder by means of poison].) The prosecution does not have to prove "to a mathematical certainty" that but for the poison the death "would not have occurred." (See *People v. Canizalez* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 832, 845; *People v. Scola* (1976) 56 Cal.App.3d 723, 726-727.) However, the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the poisoning was "a substantial factor in producing" the death. (See *Canizalez*, at p. 845; *Scola*, at p. 726.)

C. Sufficiency of Expert Opinions

As noted above, the prosecution relied upon the testimony of experts to establish "poison"—or drug exposure—was the cause of the baby's death. The testimony of a single witness, including that of an expert, may constitute substantial evidence of an element of a crime or of a material fact. (*People v. Wright* (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 537, 545; *Wise v. DLA Piper LLP (US)* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1180, 1191.) However, when an expert's opinion is based on speculation, conjecture or unsubstantiated assumptions,

it "cannot rise to the dignity of substantial evidence' and a judgment based solely on that opinion 'must be reversed for lack of substantial evidence." (Wise, at pp. 1191-1192; accord, Wright, at p. 545; see Sargon Enterprises, Inc. v. University of Southern California (2012) 55 Cal.4th 747, 770 ["an expert opinion based on speculation or conjecture is inadmissible"].)

D. Insufficient Evidence

The only expert to opine affirmatively that drug exposure—namely, the exposure to heroin and methamphetamine—caused D.R.'s death was Dr. Ogan. (1RT 404.) However, his opinion in that regard was based on speculation.

In explaining the effects of the drugs, Dr. Ogan never testified that the drugs were necessarily fatal to an infant or even that there was a high probability that her degree of exposure was fatal. He merely testified the drugs were capable of killing and potentially fatal. Dr. Ogan explained, "[B]oth of these drugs used in the wrong context and wrong doses *can* lead to death, especially in the pediatric population." (1RT 407, emphasis added.) Dr. Ogan noted that children are more sensitive to the effects of these drugs than are adults. (1RT 407.) He also testified that each drug alone "could" kill someone. (1RT 407.)

More specifically, he explained that methamphetamine can kill by causing a cardiac arrest while heroin can kill by causing respiratory arrest.

(1RT 419-421.) However, he admitted there was no evidence that the drugs did either one, other than the fact "we know that her heart stopped and she died." (1RT 420-422.) Of course, the cessation of the heart is something that is present in every death and says nothing about the cause of death. In other words, Dr. Ogan testified about the mere possibility of a causal link between drug exposure and D.R.'s death, which is necessarily speculation and does not constitute substantial evidence. (See *People v. Rios* (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 542, 567.)

The Court of Appeal did not find his testimony speculative. First, it wrote that it does not matter that Dr. Ogan "found no conclusive objective sign to prove which drug or drugs caused death." (App. A [Opn., at p. 10].) However, the issue is not that Dr. Ogan found no proof *which* drug caused death. It is that he did not identify any evidence that *either* drug caused death.

The court also found his testimony sufficient because he "had the training and experience to determine the cause of death and performed a thorough autopsy." (App. A [Opn., at p. 10].) The fact that Dr. Ogan had the credentials to be designated an expert does not automatically render his opinion substantial. Every expert has training and experience in his field that sets him apart from laypersons. (See *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665, 675 ["A person is qualified to testify as an expert if he has special knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education sufficient to

qualify him as an expert on the subject to which his testimony relates"; Evid. Code, § 720, subd. (a) [same].) Similarly, the performance of a "thorough autopsy" does not make his opinion substantial. Dr. Ogan was a forensic pathologist. (1RT 384.) It is a forensic pathologist's duty to perform autopsies and determine causes of death. (1RT 387; see *People v*. Jones (2012) 54 Cal.4th 1, 56 [one of a forensic pathologist's responsibilities is "to express an opinion on the cause of death"].) To hold that a forensic pathologist's conclusion about the cause of death is necessarily substantial because he is a forensic pathologist and performed his normal duties as one is to ignore the significance of the reasons for and evidence supporting that conclusion. Such a holding discounts the authority the Court of Appeal itself cited that even an expert's opinion can be legally insufficient to establish causation if "based on speculation or unsupported assumptions." (App. A [Opn., at p. 9.])

The Court of Appeal also relied on Dr. Ogan's testimony that there was "no safe amount" of the drugs "for an infant." (App. A [Opn., at p. 10]; 1RT 408-409.) Again, the court's reasoning is flawed. The fact that a condition is unsafe does not mean it is the proximate cause of injury. (See *Harness v. Pacific Curtainwall Co.* (1965) 235 Cal.App.2d 485, 490 [instruction correct that unsafe working condition not sufficient for jury to conclude employer negligent unless "unsafe place was a concurrent proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries"]; *Worley v. Spreckels Bros.*

Commercial Co. (1912) 163 Cal. 60, 65 ["there can be no recovery on account of . . . unsafe place in which to work, unless the same . . . was a proximate cause of the injury"].) As the Court of Appeal even stated, an act is the proximate cause of a harm if the harm—in this case, death—"would not have occurred when it did" without the act. (App. A [Opn., at p. 8].) Here, again, there was an absence of evidence that D.R.'s death would not have occurred without her drug exposure, even if her drug exposure was unsafe, and the Court of Appeal did not identify any.

The court relied on the fact that Dr. Ogan ruled out other causes of death as support for his conclusion that drug exposure was the cause of death. (App. A [Opn., at p. 10].) Like Dr. Ogan's testimony that drugs were the cause, ruling out other causes is simply another form of conclusion—i.e., that X *did not* cause the victim's death as opposed to that X *caused* the victim's death. Both conclusions are meaningless without examining the reasons underlying them.

In this case, the basis for Dr. Ogan ruling out many of the other causes was the presence of drugs in the baby's system. For example, Dr. Ogan was asked about Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (or SIDS). He ruled it out noting it is a diagnosis of exclusion, one given only when nothing else could cause an infant's death and concluded it does not apply because something else could have caused D.R.'s death. (1RT 407-408.) He

testified he would always rule out SIDS as long as there was evidence of some other possible cause, including "chemical poisoning." (1RT 422.)

There was also evidence that Ms. Brown had been co-sleeping (or sharing the bed) with D.R. in the moments leading up to the child's death, and Dr. Ogan testified that co-sleeping can cause an infant's death as a result of such events as the parent rolling over the infant and causing it to suffocate. (1RT 408; 2RT 469; 2CT 391, 400, 440.) Dr. Ogan testified suffocating "might" cause injuries to the baby's face and admitted observing abrasions and scrapes on D.R.'s temples and cheeks and a halfinch bruise on the left front of her head. (1RT 396, 400, 408.) Nevertheless, he ruled out co-sleeping as the cause of death because he "couldn't find signs" of it. (1RT 408.) When questioned about the presence of facial injuries, Dr. Ogan relied on the presence of drugs, responding, "Sir, I am not quite sure about what you want me to answer. But what I do have here is a child who had significant levels of two very toxic drugs. I could not ignore those drugs." (1RT 424.)

Notably, like drug exposure, Dr. Ogan testified that co-sleeping can also cause death. (1RT 408.) Thus, like drug exposure, it was also necessarily unsafe. However, the doctor ruled out co-sleeping as a potential cause of death because he claimed not to see physical signs of it as a cause (1RT 408) while concluding drugs were the cause despite admitting that there were no physical signs they were (1RT 419-421). This double

standard is a clear indication that the mere presence of drugs in the baby's system rather than evidence of actual causation was the basis on which he reached his conclusion.

Notably, Dr. Ogan made a finding that pointed to another cause of death and which he did not rule out. Dr. Ogan testified that the pooling of blood in the child's body indicated D.R. was lying face down in bed when discovered. (1RT 398.) In fact, he concluded that, from the nature of the lividity, D.R. was face down when she died and remained face down for a period of time thereafter. (1RT 417-418.) Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak concluded likewise. (2RT 801.) He characterized that position in an infant as "very dangerous" because babies cannot lift their heads to breathe and cannot push themselves out of that situation if their airways become blocked. (2RT 801.) He identified it as one of three possible causes of D.R.'s death, along with exposure to heroin and co-sleeping. (2RT 801-802.)

The Court of Appeal contended that, by citing drug exposure as a possible cause of death, Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak's testimony corroborated Dr. Ogan's ultimate conclusion that it was. (App. A [Opn., at p. 10].) However, Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak testified that those three events, "either individually or in concert," were merely "capable" of causing the baby's death. (2RT 800.) The most that one can say about Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak's testimony is that he believed Dr. Ogan *might be right but also might be wrong*. It is illogical to find such an opinion corroborative of Dr.

Ogan's conclusion. In fact, Dr. Crawford-Jakubiak's testimony more forcefully contradicted Dr. Ogan's conclusion as two of the three likely causes of death, in his opinion, were *not* drug exposure.

undeniable that D.R. was exposed to heroin and methamphetamine during her short life. However, with respect to whether Ms. Brown was liable for first degree murder by means of poison, evidence of mere exposure is not enough. There must be evidence from which the jury could rationally conclude the drugs were a substantial factor in her death. At best, the two experts called by the prosecution to establish the element of causation established only that it was a possibility. Moreover, it was a possibility among several possibilities unrelated to drugs. Given the myriad of circumstances that could have caused D.R.'s death, absent evidence that the drug exposure was necessarily fatal, of which there was none, there was no basis for jurors to conclude drugs were a proximate cause. Accordingly, the prosecutor failed to present sufficient evidence that drug exposure caused D.R.'s death. Therefore, Ms. Brown's conviction of first degree murder must be reversed.

For sentencing purposes, the information also alleged, and the jury found true, that Ms. Brown was responsible for D.R. being injured or suffering harm and that such injury or harm resulted in D.R.'s death. (§ 12022.95; 3CT 640.) The finding carries a four-year sentence enhancement. (§ 12022.95.) As with the murder finding, absent proof that

drug exposure caused D.R.'s death, there was no support for this finding either.

THE **PROSECUTION PRESENTED** INSUFFICIENT **EVIDENCE THAT** MS. BROWN WILLFULLY, DELIBERATELY AND PREMEDITATION **ADMINISTERED** "POISON" TO HER **DAUGHTER** PURPOSES OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER BY **POISON**

In addition to the causation evidence challenge presented above (see Argument I, *ante*), Ms. Brown's conviction of first degree murder must be reversed because the prosecutor failed to present sufficient evidence that she willfully, deliberately and with premeditation administered "poison" to her daughter. To be clear, Ms. Brown is not arguing that murder by poison requires proof that *the murder or killing* was willful, deliberate and premeditated but rather only that the administration of the poison—the transfer of the drugs to the baby—was. Whether the prosecution must prove the willful, deliberate and premeditated administration of poison beyond a reasonable doubt appears to be an issue of first impression.

A. Analysis of Section 189

The evidentiary requirements for proving first degree murder are detailed in section 189, which provides in relevant part as follows:

All murder which is perpetrated by means of a destructive device or explosive, a weapon of mass destruction, knowing use of ammunition designed primarily to penetrate metal or armor, *poison*, lying in wait, torture, *or by any other kind of*

willful, deliberate, and premeditated killing, or which is committed in the perpetration of, or attempt to perpetrate, arson, rape, carjacking, robbery, burglary, mayhem, kidnapping, train wrecking, or any act punishable under Section 206, 286, 288, 288a, or 289, . . . is murder of the first degree.

(Emphasis added.) Consequently, the precise requirements for proving murder *by means of poison* is an issue of statutory construction.

In construing a statute, the goal is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature and to interpret it in a way that best serves its purpose. (*People v. Leiva* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 498, 506.)

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