## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S257631

v.

**HEATHER ROSE BROWN,** 

**Defendant and Appellant.** 

Third Appellate District Third, Case No. C085998 Shasta County Superior Court, Case No. 15F2440 The Honorable Stephen H. Baker, Judge

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

### REASONS FOR DENIAL OF THE PETITION

Petitioner has failed to establish that she meets the criteria for review set forth in rule 8.500(b) of the California Rules of Court. Her first claim, that there was insufficient evidence that drugs were the cause of her baby's death, simply reflects her disagreement with the Court of Appeal decision to the contrary. Because petitioner's first claim is one that involves the particular facts of her case only, it does not present a statewide legal issue that this Court needs to resolve. Petitioner's second and third claims, which she contends present "an issue of first impression in California" and would "secure uniformity of decision and settle these important questions" (Petition at p. 7) do neither. Petitioner's second and third claims—insufficient evidence of her mental state and a related claim of instructional error—are both premised upon petitioner's desire to reinterpret Penal Code section 189 to require the mental state for murder by poison to be the "willful, deliberate and premeditated administration of poison." (Petition at p. 20.) This Court has already determined that this is not the mental state

required under the statute. (*People v. Jennings* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 616 (*Jennings*). In *Jennings*, this Court reiterated that the mental state for murder by poison requires only that the perpetrator know that administering the substance is dangerous to human life and nevertheless, with a conscious disregard for human life, delivers the poison anyway. (*Id.* at pp. 639-640.) Thus, petitioner's second and third claims also do not warrant review because they are based on a challenge to a settled question of law.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. PETITIONER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED A VALID GROUND FOR THIS COURT TO GRANT REVIEW OF HER CLAIM OF INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF CAUSATION

At the outset, this Court should deny the petition for review because petitioner has not shown why review is authorized or appropriate. The permissible grounds for review by this Court are set forth in the California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b). The petition fails to come within the four grounds for review enumerated in rule 8.500(b).

Petitioner first claims that her conviction for first-degree murder is not supported by sufficient evidence that drugs caused the death of her infant. (Petition at pp. 9-19.) She claims this despite the fact that the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy on the baby's body determined that the cause of death was polypharmacy—a situation in which several drugs acting in concert cause the heart and lungs to stop functioning and death to occur. (1 RT 386, 390, 403.) As the Court of Appeal correctly found, this was substantial evidence that drugs caused the baby's death. (Opn. at p. 9-11.) The Court of Appeal also found that the forensic pathologist had ruled out other possible causes of death, including those that another medical expert, who had not conducted the autopsy and who had testified regarding child abuse, had offered as possible causes of death. (Opn. at pp. 9-11.)

Petitioner's claim of insufficient evidence of causation is a factual one limited to the parameters of her specific case.

Petitioner's assertion that she has presented this Court with an important question within the meaning of Rule 8.500(b) is plainly without merit. While the resolution of her claim may be important to petitioner, it does not present an issue that would secure uniformity of law or answer a question of statewide importance. Petitioner's first claim is nothing more than a disagreement with the Court of Appeal's analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence in an unpublished opinion. For this reason, review should be denied.

#### A. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews a claim of insufficient evidence by asking "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime or special circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt." (Jennings, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 638.) The reviewing court examines the "entire record in the light most favorable to the judgment below to determine whether it discloses sufficient evidence—that is, evidence that is reasonable, credible, and of solid value—supporting the decision, and not whether the evidence proves guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Ibid*, citing People v. Mincey (1992) 2 Cal.4th 408, 432.) The appellate court does not "reweigh the evidence nor reevaluate the credibility of witnesses." (Jennings, at p. 638, citing People v. Lindberg (2008) 45 Cal.4th 1, 27; see also Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 318-319; People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576.).) In support of the judgment, the court presumes "the existence of every fact the jury reasonably could deduce from the evidence." (Jennings, at pp. 638-639.) If the record reasonably justifies the jury's findings, the judgment will not be reversed "simply

because the circumstances might also reasonably be reconciled with a contrary finding." (*Id.* at p. 639.)

# B. Substantial Evidence Supports the Jury's Finding of Causation

The Court of Appeal concluded that there was substantial evidence supporting the causation element of petitioner's first-degree murder by poison conviction. (Opn. at pp. 9-11.) Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeal erred in evaluating the evidence of causation, an argument based on a narrow, one-sided view of the record and a pedantic construction of Dr. Ikechi Ogan's testimony. (Petition at pp. 11-19.) Viewing the entire record in the light most favorable to the judgment, petitioner's argument fails.

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeal decision is in error because Dr. Ogan "did not identify any evidence that either drug caused death." (Petition at p. 13.) If petitioner's point is that neither drug on its own could cause the baby's death, the point is both incorrect and irrelevant. Dr. Ogan testified that either methamphetamine or morphine, as a by-product of heroin, could cause death in an infant. (Opn. at pp. 5-6.) Here, however, the cause of death was the interaction of multiple drugs—in other words, polypharmacy, as Dr. Ogan testified. (1 RT 403, 414.) Dr. Ogan testified that the drugs in the baby's system acted together to stop her heart and her respirations. (1 RT 406-407, 414; Opn. at pp. 5-6.)

Petitioner suggests that the evidence showed only that the baby's heart and lungs had stopped working and that fact was of no significance because all deaths by definition include the cessation of heart and lung function. (Petition at p. 13.) But petitioner's characterization of that evidence fails to consider the entirety of Dr. Ogan's testimony and other evidence at trial. The drugs were precisely what had caused the baby's heart and lungs to stop functioning. (1 RT 406-407, 414; Opn at p. 5-6, 9-11.) Petitioner also takes issue with the way in which Dr. Ogan phrased his

testimony about the lethal nature of the drugs petitioner gave to the baby. She states that his testimony was only that these drugs could cause death, not that they did. (Petition at pp. 12-13.) When Dr. Ogan's testimony is examined as a whole, it is abundantly clear that what he said was that the baby's death was caused by petitioner's administration of drugs to the infant. When the record as a whole is considered, both expert and nonexpert testimony (Opn. at p. 9-10), it is clear that substantial evidence supports the verdicts and that the Court of Appeal decision finding sufficient evidence of causation is correct. The court presumes "the existence of every fact the jury reasonably could deduce from the evidence." (Jennings, at pp. 638-639.) If the record reasonably justifies the jury's findings, the judgment will not be reversed "simply because the circumstances might also reasonably be reconciled with a contrary finding." (*Id.* at p. 639.) The jury reasonably deduced from Dr. Ogan's testimony that drugs "could cause death" and that the drugs did in fact cause the baby's death in this case.

If petitioner's point is that neither one of the drugs either together or separately could cause death, she is simply wrong. The evidence at trial established that heroin can cause death and that it has no therapeutic uses in standard medicine. (1 RT 407; 2 RT 775-776, 784.) The same is true of methamphetamine. (1 RT 407; 2 RT 794-795.) This is especially true for children, as Dr. Ogan also testified. (Opn. at p. 6.)

Next petitioner takes issue with the Court of Appeal's reliance on Dr. Ogan's training and experience. (Petition at pp. 13-14.) But Dr. Ogan's qualifications were well-established by the record, as the Court of Appeal pointed out on rehearing. (Opn. at p. 10.) The unremarkable fact that the Court of Appeal considered that factor as part of the record as a whole presents no question for this Court's review.

Next petitioner takes issue with the Court of Appeal's reference to Dr. Ogan's testimony that there was "no safe amount [of the drugs] for an infant." (Petition at p. 14.) First, the Court of Appeal did *not* isolate this fact (as petitioner does) to find that it was the proximate cause of the infant's death. The Court of Appeal considered this fact along with all the other evidence in the record to find that there was substantial evidence of causation. (Opn. at p. 6, 10.) Petitioner then characterizes the presence of drugs in the baby as an "unsafe" "condition" and proceeds to analogize to civil cases that dealt with unsafe working conditions to find an employer not negligent. (Petition at pp. 14-15.) Petitioner's administration of illicit drugs to an infant with the full knowledge of the harm it can cause, was not a "condition," still less a "working condition." It was a crime. Petitioner's civil cases are completely inapposite.

Next, petitioner challenges Dr. Ogan's determination that ruled out other causes of death—SIDS (sudden infant death syndrome) and cosleeping—as "meaningless." (Petition at p. 15.) Again, petitioner's argument reflects only her disagreement with the doctor's observations, analysis and conclusions. Review is not available to reweigh this evidence. (*Jennings*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 638 [appellate court does not reweigh evidence].)

Next petitioner asserts that Dr. Ogan made a finding that pointed to another cause of death—that the baby was placed face down and suffocated. (Petition at p. 17.) Dr. Ogan made no such finding, and petitioner distorts the record to reach that conclusion. Dr. Ogan testified that the lividity found on the baby's body resulted from *either* being placed face down before or immediately *after* her death. (1 RT 398-399; Opn. at p. 5.) Dr. Ogan ruled out the possibility of this finding relating to the cause of death by finding that she died of polypharmacy. (Opn. at p. 5, 7, 9.) Dr. Jakubiak also did not conclude that this established definitively a cause of

death. Dr. Jakubiak did not find a conclusive cause of death. (Opn. at p. 10.)

In sum, petitioner's arguments reflect only her disagreement with the Court of Appeal's assessment of the record and its conclusions based thereon. Thus, review in this Court is not warranted. No uniformity of decisions will be generated and no important question of law will be answered.

# II. PETITIONER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED A VALID GROUND FOR THIS COURT TO GRANT REVIEW OF HER INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF MENTAL STATE CLAIM

Petitioner's second claim is that the prosecutor was required to prove that she willfully, deliberately, and with premeditation administered poison that killed her baby. (Petition at p. 20.) She further claims that the evidence that she possessed this mental state was insufficient to support the judgment. (Petition at pp. 28-29.) Petitioner's claim is based on her own interpretation of the mental state required for a violation of Penal Code section 189, which is flatly inconsistent with case law, including this Court's opinion in *Jennings*. The mental state required for first degree murder by poison is that the defendant administered the poison with the knowledge that doing so was dangerous to human life and with a conscious disregard for that fact. (*Jennings*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at pp. 639-640.)

Because petitioner's claim of insufficient evidence is based on an erroneous legal standard, it does not present a valid ground for this Court's review.

### A. Standard of Review

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. (See *Bruns v. E-Commerce Exch., Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724.) Penal Code section 189, subdivision (a) provides:

All murder that is perpetrated by means of a destructive device or explosive, a weapon of mass destruction, knowing use of ammunition designed primarily to penetrate metal or armor, poison, lying in wait, torture, or by any other kind of willful, deliberate, and premeditated killing, or that is committed in the perpetration of, or attempt to perpetrate, arson, rape, carjacking, robbery, burglary, mayhem, kidnapping, train wrecking, or any act punishable under Section 206, 286, 288, 288a, or 289, or murder that is perpetrated by means of discharging a firearm from a motor vehicle, intentionally at another person outside of the vehicle with the intent to inflict death, is murder of the first degree.

All other types of murder are designated by the statute as being murder in the second degree. (Pen. Code, § 189, subd. (b).) The jury was instructed on first degree murder by poison as follows:

The defendant is charged in Count 1 with murder in violation of Penal Code section 187.

To prove that the defendant is guilty of murder, the People must prove that :

- 1. The defendant committed an act that caused the death of another person;
- 2. When the defendant acted, she had a state of mind called malice aforethought

#### AND

3. She killed without lawful excuse.

There are two kinds of malice aforethought, express malice and implied malice. Proof of either is sufficient to establish the state of mind required for murder.

The defendant acted with express malice if she unlawfully intended to kill.

The defendant acted with implied malice if:

- 1. She intentionally committed an act;
- 2. The natural and probable consequences of the act were dangerous to human life;

3. At the time she acted, she knew her act was dangerous to human life:

### **AND**

4. She deliberately acted with conscious disregard for human life.

Malice aforethought does not require hatred or ill will toward the victim. It is a mental state that must be formed before the act that causes death is committed. It does not require deliberation or the passage of any particular period of time.

An act causes death if the death is the direct, natural and probable consequence of the act and the death would not have happened without the act. A natural and probable consequence is one that a reasonable person would know is likely to happen if nothing unusual intervenes. In deciding whether a consequence is natural an probable, consider all of the circumstances established by the evidence.

There may be more than one cause of death. An act causes death only if it is a substantial factor in causing the death. A substantial factor is more than a trivial or remote factor. However, it does not need to be the only factor that causes the death.

A parent has a legal duty to provide care, obtain medical attention and protect a child. If you conclude that the defendant owed a duty to [the child] and the defendant failed to perform that duty, her failure to act is the same as doing a negligent or injurious act.

If you decide that the defendant committed murder, it is murder of the second degree, unless the People have proved beyond a reasonable doubt that it is murder of the first degree as defined in CALCRIM No. 521.

### (3 CT 619-620 [CALCRIM NO. 520.].) CALCRIM No. 521 provides:

The defendant is guilty of first degree murder if the People have proved that the defendant murdered by using poison.

Poison is a substance, applied externally to the body or introduced into the body, that can kill by its own inherent qualities.

The requirements for second degree murder based on express or implied malice are explained in CALCRIM 520, "First or Second Degree Murder With Malice Aforethought."

The People have the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing was first degree murder rather than a lesser crime. If the People have not met this burden, you must find the defendant not guilty of first degree murder and the murder is second degree murder.

(3 CT 621.)

# B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Applied the Law of Murder by Poison in the First Degree

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